ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

DEC 29 2015

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Charleston County

S.C. Supreme Court

J. C. Buddy Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

DAVID ROCQUEMORE,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001213  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

LARA M. CAUDY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
P.O. Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## ISSUES PRESENTED

1.

Did the PCR court err by failing to rule on Petitioner's claim of judicial misconduct pertaining to the trial court's *ex parte* communication with an assistant solicitor through text message during Petitioner's trial despite the presentation of extensive evidence on the claim during the evidentiary hearing and the fact that the court requested, and the parties submitted, written memoranda on the issue?

2.

Did the trial court commit judicial misconduct by (1) engaging in *ex parte* communication with an assistant solicitor through text message during Petitioner's trial without making a contemporaneous disclosure to defense counsel thereby calling into question the impartiality of the tribunal, and by (2) failing to recuse itself *sua sponte* from ruling on Petitioner's July 23, 2007 post-trial motion for the release of the assistant solicitor's telephone records since the court's *ex parte* communication with the assistant solicitor through text message created the appearance that the court had an extrajudicial interest in denying the motion?

## STATEMENT

### **Procedural History**

A Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner at the December 2005 term of General Sessions for the offenses of murder and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. App. 1718-1721. His case was called to trial on July 9, 2007 before the Honorable Daniel F. Pieper, and a jury. App. 1. Deputy Solicitor Bruce D. Durant and Assistant Solicitors Bryan A. Alfaro and Jennifer Shealy represented the state, and Andrew Savage and Lauren E. Williams represented Petitioner. App. 1. On July 19, 2007, the jury acquitted Petitioner of murder, but found him guilty of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. App. 1365, l. 10 – 1366, l. 9. He was sentenced by Judge Pieper to ten years imprisonment for voluntary manslaughter and five years concurrent for the weapons offense. App. 1383, l. 22 – 1384, l. 17.

On appeal, Petitioner argued, *inter alia*, that the trial court erred by failing to grant Petitioner a mistrial where the state neglected to disclose that a sitting juror was a close cousin of an assistant solicitor and that the two had communicated during the trial. App. 1459. The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions. State v. Rocquemore, Op. No. 2010-UP-331 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 28, 2010). App. 1458-1460. On December 1, 2011, the Supreme Court granted Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals. App. 1497. However, after further briefing and oral argument, the Supreme Court ultimately dismissed the writ as improvidently granted by order filed December 12, 2012. App. 1537-1538.

On February 1, 2013, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 1539-1546. The state filed a return to this application on May 20, 2014. App. 1547-1552. With the assistance of counsel, Petitioner filed an amended application on December 1, 2014 raising the

claim argued in this petition. App. 1553-1555. The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on January 14, 2015 before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr. App. 1592. Assistant Attorney General Ashleigh R. Wilson represented the state, and James Kristian Falk represented Petitioner. App. 1592.

Before the hearing, Counsel Falk subpoenaed the trial judge to appear and give testimony at the evidentiary hearing. On behalf of the trial judge, the state filed a Motion to Quash Subpoena on December 5, 2014. App. 1556-1565. Petitioner filed a Return to the Motion to Quash Subpoena on December 8, 2014. App. 1566-1590. Judge Nicholson ultimately issued a Form 4 Order partially denying the motion to quash, “finding that it may be necessary for [the trial judge] to testify.”<sup>1</sup> App. 1591.

At the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, Judge Nicholson ordered the parties to submit written memoranda within forty-five days. App. 1672, l. 11 – 1673, l. 24. On March 9, 2015, the state filed a Memorandum in Support of Denying Post-Conviction Relief. App. 1682-1696. On March 23, 2015, Petitioner filed a Memorandum in Support of Granting Post-Conviction Relief. App. 1697-1706.

By order dated May 17, 2015, Judge Nicholson denied Petitioner relief. App. 1707-1717. This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

### **Background Facts**

Petitioner’s jury trial began on Monday, July 9, 2007. Shortly after the trial reconvened on the afternoon of July 17, 2007, Defense Counsel Savage told the court that he had recently learned Michael Nelson, an assistant solicitor with the Ninth Circuit Solicitor’s Office in Charleston, had a

---

<sup>1</sup> The trial judge appeared at the evidentiary hearing, but did not testify. Judge Nicholson orally granted the state’s motion to quash the subpoena based on the evidence presented during the hearing. See App. 1651, l. 18 – 1652, l. 18.

cousin on the jury.<sup>2</sup> App. 890, l. 6 – 891, l. 18. The juror had failed to disclose his relationship with Nelson or his connection with the solicitor’s office during *voir dire*. See App. 54, ll. 16-22. Moreover, the state also neglected to disclose this relationship despite evidence that the members of the prosecuting team were aware Nelson’s cousin was a member of the jury pool before qualifications.

Defense counsel also told the court he had discovered that there had been some communication between the juror and Nelson over the telephone and by way of text message throughout the trial and requested the juror be dismissed. App. 894, l. 22 – 895, l. 18; App. 896, ll. 15-19; App. 897, ll. 17-18. After questioning the juror, the court granted counsel’s request and dismissed the juror.<sup>3</sup> He was replaced by an alternate. App. 900, l. 5 – 903, l. 6; App. 907, l. 7 – 908, l. 13.

Defense counsel later moved for a mistrial based the state’s failure to disclose the close relationship between the seated juror and Nelson in violation of Petitioner’s due process rights. He emphasized the evidence of numerous communications between the seated juror and Nelson throughout the trial and the inconsistent statements made by the juror and Nelson when questioned

---

<sup>2</sup> The Ninth Circuit Solicitor’s Office prosecuted Petitioner’s case. However, Nelson was not involved in the prosecution.

<sup>3</sup> The dismissed juror told the court before he was excused that he had not disclosed to any of the other seated jurors “in any kind of way” that he was related to an assistant solicitor or had a connection to the solicitor’s office. App. 901, l. 19 – 902, l. 3. However, at least two other seated jurors contradicted these statements and told the court under oath that the dismissed juror mentioned his cousin (Nelson) worked for the solicitor’s office or “worked in the building.” See App. 1150, l. 14-17 and App. 1156, ll. 5-7.

by the court.<sup>4</sup> App. 1130, l. 18 – 1140, l. 1; App. 1161, l. 3 – 1163, l. 23; App. 1171, l. 18 – 1189, l. 6. After questioning all the remaining jurors about whether the dismissed juror had discussed his relationship with the solicitor’s office, the court ultimately denied Petitioner’s motion for a mistrial finding there was no evidence the remainder of the jury had been “improperly tainted.”<sup>5</sup> App. 1187, l. 9 – 1189, l. 15; App. 1383, ll. 17 – 1384, l. 8; See App. 1141, l. 6 – 1161, l. 1

During the course of the discussion regarding the dismissed juror, defense counsel also reported to the court that, while speaking to Nelson, he had learned Nelson “was asked to leave the courtroom by Your Honor because of his relationship with the jury member.” App. 895, ll. 19-22. The judge responded by telling counsel that Nelson “just assumed” he had told him to leave because of his relationship with the juror and that he “just generally told him to leave the courtroom.” App. 896, ll. 2-6. The court later told the parties, “I was just joking with Mr. Nelson when I told him to get out [of the courtroom]” and that he was “totally unaware” of the relationship between Nelson and the seated juror. App. 898, ll. 1-7. The judge “personally assure[d]” defense counsel that he “would never so such a thing” and that he often “joke[s] around with all the people that work in this building every now and then, but that’s about it.” App. 899, ll. 12-20. Defense counsel did not seek to recuse the judge because of his *ex parte* communication with Nelson, but instead focused on both the juror and the state’s failure to disclose the relationship between Nelson and the juror during *voir dire*. App. 899, ll. 13-14.

---

<sup>4</sup> For example, Nelson was inconsistent as to when he supposedly informed the assistant solicitors who were prosecuting the case that his cousin was a member of the jury panel. Moreover, Nelson and the dismissed juror were also inconsistent about the extent of their communication during Petitioner’s trial. See App. 1130, l. 18 – 1140, l. 1; App. 1161, l. 3 – 1163, l. 23; App. 1171, l. 18 – 1189, l. 6.

<sup>5</sup> As noted, the issue related to the court’s failure to grant a mistrial was raised by Petitioner on direct appeal.

After the jury found Petitioner guilty of voluntary manslaughter, defense counsel renewed his motion for a mistrial. The court again denied the motion and stated that it was still satisfied that the “jury was not improperly tainted in any type of way.” App. 1382, l. 17 – 1383, l. 8. The court permitted counsel to submit records subpoenaed from SunCom Wireless that listed the telephone calls made by the dismissed juror between July 6, 2007 and July 18, 2007. These records revealed at least twenty contacts or attempted contacts between Nelson and the dismissed juror during the course of the trial. App. 1585; App. 1709.

On July 23, 2007, four days after the trial ended, Petitioner filed a post-trial Motion for Release of Records. App. 1584-1586. The motion requested the trial court issue an order requiring Verizon Wireless to release the cellular telephone records of Assistant Solicitor Nelson for the dates of July 6, 2007 through July 19, 2007. Specifically, defense counsel sought records containing the content of the text messages sent and received by Nelson during that time period in an effort to remove any ambiguity related to the issue concerning the dismissed juror.<sup>6</sup> App. 1584-1586. A “telephone hearing” was held on July 24, 2007 with defense counsel and Deputy Solicitor Durant participating. *Despite the state’s lack of objection*, the trial judge orally denied the motion during the hearing and subsequently filed a written order denying the motion on August 20, 2007. App. 1588-1590.

On appeal, appellate counsel likewise filed a motion with the Court of Appeals seeking an order for the release of Nelson’s cellular telephone records. By order dated April 11, 2008, the Court of Appeals also denied the motion.<sup>7</sup> App. 1710. Petitioner’s convictions and sentence were

---

<sup>6</sup> Verizon Wireless refused to release the actual content of the text messages without a court order.

<sup>7</sup> At the time the Court of Appeals denied appellate counsel’s motion, the trial judge had been elected to the Court of Appeals and was serving as an appellate judge.

ultimately affirmed by the Court of Appeals and this Court dismissed the writ of certiorari as improvidently granted. App. 1458-1460; App. 1537-1538.

On October 23, 2013, while Petitioner's PCR action was pending, Nelson was suspended from the practice of law by this Court for a period of six months due to his improper communication with the dismissed juror during Petitioner's trial. See In re Nelson, 406 S.C. 201, 750 S.E.2d 85 (2013). In the opinion, this Court noted the following:

At an interview with ODC [Office of Disciplinary Counsel] on August 1, 2012, respondent [Nelson] was asked if the trial judge had asked him to leave the courtroom during the trial or during jury selection. Initially, respondent [Nelson] replied, "[n]o." However, respondent [Nelson] then remembered that he went into the courtroom during the trial and **the trial judge texted him** and told him to leave. Respondent [Nelson] stated **the text** occurred during a break in the trial . . . Respondent [Nelson] said he and the trial judge were friends, and that **texting with the trial judge was not uncommon**.

Id. at 208, 750 S.E.2d at 89 (emphasis added).

After this opinion was published, Petitioner amended his PCR application to allege the "[r]ecent discovery of material facts not previously presented and heard which require vacation of the conviction or sentence." App. 1553. Petitioner's amended application asserted that neither trial counsel nor Petitioner were "aware of any *ex parte* text message(s)" exchanged between the trial judge and Nelson during Petitioner's trial. Petitioner first learned of this *ex parte* communication from this Court's opinion suspending Nelson from the practice of law. App. 1553-1554. The focus during Petitioner's evidentiary hearing was on this claim of newly discovered judicial misconduct. Petitioner presented extensive evidence in support of this claim during the hearing and the PCR court accepted detailed argument from Petitioner's counsel on the claim at the end of the evidentiary hearing. Moreover, the PCR court ordered Petitioner and the state to submit written memoranda on the specific claim of judicial misconduct in the context of a PCR action within forty-five days, and both parties complied. See App. 1682-1706.

## Testimony at PCR Hearing

Petitioner's trial counsel, Andy Savage, testified that Petitioner's trial lasted two weeks and that over the weekend while the trial was ongoing he "was approached by an attorney, Frank Cornley [Francis John Cornely], who told me that he had witnessed Michael [Nelson] in the company of one of the sitting jurors." Savage explained that after discovering Nelson's connection with the juror, he spoke to Nelson, who verified the relationship. App. 1607, ll. 8-20. He also obtained the juror's "background information," including his cellular telephone number, from the Clerk of Court and subpoenaed the juror's telephone records. The records revealed "more than twenty contacts during the first week of trial" between Nelson and the juror. App. 1601, l. 10 – 1602, l. 25.

Savage was unaware of the relationship between the seated juror and Nelson because both the state and the juror had failed to disclose the relationship during *voir dire* or any time thereafter. He maintained that if he would have known of the relationship, he "never" would have "put" Nelson's cousin on the jury. App. 1604, l. 22 – 1605, l. 8. However, once he discovered the relationship and the extensive communication between Nelson and the juror during the trial, he requested the juror be dismissed and moved for a mistrial.<sup>8</sup> While the trial court agreed to dismiss the juror and replace him with an alternate, the court refused to grant a mistrial. App. 1611, l. 24 – 1613, l. 4.

Additionally, Savage testified that after Petitioner was convicted, he attempted to obtain Nelson's cellular telephone records, specifically the content of the text messages sent and received

---

<sup>8</sup> Savage asserted that his greatest concern was the "constant contact" between Nelson and the juror during the trial. When he learned of the extensive contact between the two, he "became quite alarmed." He was also concerned that the juror had lied about the extent of his communication with Nelson when questioned by the trial judge before he was dismissed. App. 1614, ll. 8-18. This was his focus during the trial.

by Nelson, from Verizon Wireless, but the company said “if we wanted to read the texts, the [c]ourt had to sign an order.” Consequently, the defense “petitioned the [c]ourt” and requested the trial judge issue an order requiring Verizon to release the records so the defense could “verify that there was no communication [between Nelson and the juror] regarding the trial.” Savage said, “[T]here was no reason in our minds why we couldn’t take a look at the texts.” However, the trial judge “felt that the inquisition of the [dismissed] juror and other jurors subsequent to that was sufficient to dispel any notion of impropriety” and refused to grant the motion. App. 1615, l. 6 – 1616, l. 17; App. 1623, ll. 15-18.

As far as any *ex parte* communication between Nelson and the trial judge, Savage explained that while he was speaking with Nelson during the trial about his relationship with the seated juror, Nelson told him that “he had had contact with the [trial] judge and that the judge had asked him to leave the courtroom.” However, Savage “wasn’t a party to any conversation between Mr. Nelson and the [c]ourt” and does not know what was actually exchanged between the two. App. 1608, ll. 13-19; App. 1609, ll. 23-24. He also never knew the communication between Nelson and the judge was through a text message until the Office of Disciplinary Counsel investigated the matter and this Court published its opinion suspending Nelson from the practice of law. App. 1611, ll. 15-23. Savage testified, “I had no idea that the [trial judge] had communicated with Mr. Nelson [through text message] until the [o]pinion *In Re: Michael Nelson* was published. And *I was shocked.*” App. 1622, ll. 2-21 (emphasis added); See App. 1613, ll. 5-8.

Savage asserted, “[W]hat lingers as a problem [now] is if there was contact between the presiding judge and the assistant solicitor [Nelson], other than what was made known to us [the defense].” App. 1617, ll. 5-23. He maintained, “If I had known that the [trial judge] had communicated by texting with the solicitor [Nelson], contemporaneous with the juror

communicating with that same assistant solicitor [Nelson], I trust my judgment at that time would have been to raise that, put it on the record, and probably raise hell about it.” App. 1618, ll. 16-22. Moreover, Savage said the fact that the communication between Nelson and the trial judge was through text message “perhaps explain[s] the reason why the [trial judge] would not issue any [o]rder to allow me to see the text [messages sent and received by Nelson]. That’s the only thing I can think of. Because it was such an easy thing to do . . . All we wanted to do was verify that there was no communication [between Nelson and the juror] regarding the trial . . . I couldn’t understand why [the trial judge] would not allow us to see the texts.” App. 1623, ll. 7-23; See App. 1625, l. 20 – 1626, l. 9. He continued, “[M]aybe there was something in the communication between the [trial judge] and the assistant solicitor [Nelson] that was not proper.” App. 1626, ll. 6-8.

Lastly, Savage asserted that if he would have known the communication between Nelson and the trial judge was through text message he “absolutely” would have used the improper *ex parte* communication as an additional ground for his motion for a mistrial and he would have requested the trial judge recuse himself. App. 1624, ll. 12-21. He maintained that the text message between the court and Nelson was not “the right thing to do because it’s an *ex parte* communication without disclosure.” App. 1624, ll. 22-25.

Petitioner’s appellate counsel, Joey Savitz, testified that he likewise filed a motion with the Court of Appeals for the release of Nelson’s cellular telephone records, but “Judge Cureton denied it.” App. 1639, l. 24 – 1640, l. 18. Savitz explained that this motion was related to the appellate issue regarding the trial judge’s refusal to grant a mistrial due to the state’s failure to disclose the relationship between the juror and the assistant solicitor during *voir dire* and the extensive communication between the juror and the assistant solicitor during trial. He ultimately raised the issue related to the denial of the mistrial on appeal.

Savitz testified that he did not learn the *ex parte* communication between Nelson and the trial judge during Petitioner's trial was through text message until PCR counsel told him about a month before the evidentiary hearing. He asserted that if he would have known the *ex parte* communication was via text message, "it definitely would have been an additional issue [he] would have raised" on appeal. He stated, "[L]ooking at the big picture you've got a member of the prosecution team texting a juror and the judge during the trial, without disclosing any of this information to the defense lawyer. So, yeah, I would have raised that. And I certainly wouldn't have allowed the [motion for the release of the] text messages to be controlled by the Court of Appeals when the trial [j]udge was on the Court of Appeals at the time. I would have appealed that to the Supreme Court, if I didn't take the case to the Supreme Court right away . . . I definitely wouldn't have let Judge Cureton's order be the last word on whether or not we got to see the text messages. I would have appealed or attempted to supersede that in the Supreme Court." App. 1641, l. 11 – 1643, l. 10.

In addition to the testimony of Savage and Savitz, the PCR court also accepted an affidavit from Lauren Williams in lieu of her testimony.<sup>9</sup> App. 1652, l. 21 – 1655, l. 19. Williams served as second chair for the defense during Petitioner's trial. She likewise asserted in her affidavit that she did not learn of the "existence of any text communications between Mr. Nelson and [the trial judge] until the publication of the South Carolina Supreme Court's October 23, 2013 Opinion regarding *In the Matter of Michael O'Brien Nelson*" and "had the defense team been made aware of text communications between [the trial judge] and Mr. Nelson at the time of trial, we would have raised the issue for further exploration and made the appropriate motions." App. 1680-1681.

---

<sup>9</sup> PCR counsel subpoenaed Williams to testify at the evidentiary hearing, but an incorrect date for the hearing appeared on the subpoena. App. 1654, ll. 13-16.

## Arguments at the PCR Hearing

At the conclusion of the testimony at the evidentiary hearing, Judge Nicholson allowed PCR counsel to make oral argument on Petitioner's behalf as to why post-conviction relief should be granted. See App. 1656, l. 3. Petitioner raised the claim related to the trial court's *ex parte* communication with Nelson through text message as both newly discovered evidence and as a separate claim of judicial misconduct. For whatever reason, PCR counsel conceded Petitioner could not meet the five prongs of the newly discovered evidence analysis.<sup>10</sup> Specifically, counsel maintained that the newly discovered evidence related to the trial judge's *ex parte* communication with Nelson through text message during Petitioner's trial was not material.<sup>11</sup> App. 1657, ll. 2-5.

However, counsel argued Petitioner's claim should not be analyzed under the five-pronged newly discovered evidence standard outlined by this Court, but rather it should be analyzed as a separate claim of judicial misconduct under a different framework. In support of his argument, counsel cited McCoy v. State, 401 S.C. 363, 370, 737 S.E.2d 623, 627 (2013), where this Court held that "[w]here a PCR applicant alleges *juror misconduct*, we reject the application of the *Clark* five-pronged newly discovered evidence standard, as it does not lend itself to properly evaluating a claim

---

<sup>10</sup> "To obtain a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, the party must show that the evidence: (1) would probably change the result if a new trial is had; (2) has been discovered since the trial; (3) could not have been discovered before trial; (4) is material to the issue of guilt or innocence; and (5) is not merely cumulative or impeaching." Clark v. State, 315 S.C. 385, 387-388, 434 S.E.2d 266, 267 (1993).

<sup>11</sup> The PCR court emphasized this concession in its order of dismissal. See App. 1713.

of juror misconduct.”<sup>12</sup> See App. 1657, l. 5 – 1658, l. 2 (emphasis added). Just as there is a separate framework used to evaluate newly discovered juror misconduct, counsel argued the PCR court should likewise evaluate Petitioner’s claim of newly discovered judicial misconduct under a separate framework as opposed to utilizing the Clark five-pronged test.

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