STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

MAY 19 2016

Certiorari to Charleston County

SC SUPREME COURT

The Honorable J.C. Buddy Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2015-001213

DAVID ROCQUEMORE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JUSTIN J. HUNTER
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar # 101254

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-4124

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The judicial misconduct issue is not preserved for appellate review because the issue was not ruled upon by the PCR Court and no Rule 59(e) was filed.

Petitioner argues that the PCR Court erred in failing to rule on Petitioner's claim of judicial misconduct. For the following reasons, Respondent contends that this argument should be dismissed.

The rule is well established that if asserted errors are not presented to the lower court, the question cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). An issue must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review. See State v. Moore, 357 S.C. 458, 593 S.E.2d 608 (2004). Our supreme court has made it abundantly clear that, where a PCR court fails to set forth findings and the reasons for those findings, the issue is not preserved for appellate review if the petitioner fails to make a Rule 59(e) motion requesting the PCR court make specific findings of fact and conclusions of law on the allegations. Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 408–10, 653 S.E.2d 266, 266–67 (2007). See also Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001); Pruitt v. State, 310 S.C. 254, 256, 423 S.E.2d 127, 128 (1992) ("counsel has an obligation to review the order and file a Rule 59(e), SCRCF, motion to alter or amend if the order fails to set forth the findings and the reasons for those findings). The court in Marlar noted that "[p]ursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17–27–80 (2003), the PCR judge must make specific findings of fact and state expressly the conclusions of law relating to each issue presented," and the failure to specifically rule on the issues precludes appellate review of the issues. Id. at 408, 653 S.E.2d at 266. Smith v. State, 404 S.C. 493, 505, 745 S.E.2d 378, 384 (Ct. App. 2012).

The PCR Court's Order of Dismissal did not address Petitioner's issue that the Trial Court committed judicial misconduct. Petitioner did not file a Rule 59(e) motion requesting the PCR

Court to make findings and rule on that issue. It is unclear why the PCR Court failed to address this issue, but Respondent would submit that an allegation of judicial misconduct is not a cognizable allegation. Although raised, Petitioner's PCR counsel asserted his uncertainty as to the propriety of such a claim: "I mean, I don't feel I'm in a position to say that there was judicial misconduct in this case." App. 1658, ll. 4-6. Regardless, by following the clearly established law set forth above, Respondent contends that this issue is not preserved for appellate review.

Even if the issue of judicial misconduct had been preserved for review, this allegation is without merit. As Respondent argued in its memorandum to the PCR Court, a claim of judicial misconduct is not proper for post-conviction relief and has never been the basis for post-conviction relief in any South Carolina case thus far.

The granting of post-conviction relief warranting a new trial on the basis of judicial misconduct would require the PCR Court to make a finding that the trial judge's actions indeed constituted misconduct. Respondent submits findings of judicial misconduct are not proper for the post-conviction relief court and fall solely under the jurisdiction of the Commission on Judicial Conduct ("The Commission"). The Commission was created by Rule 502, South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, to investigate complaints of judicial misconduct and incapacity against judges who are a part of the South Carolina unified court system. Rule 502, SCACR, provides the procedure for resolving allegations that a judge committed ethical misconduct or that a judge suffers from a physical or mental condition which adversely affects the judge's ability to perform judicial functions. Rule 502, SCACR, explicitly states "The Commission has jurisdiction over judges regarding allegations that misconduct occurred before or during service as a judge and regarding allegations of incapacity during service as a judge. The Commission has continuing jurisdiction over former judges regarding allegations that misconduct occurred during

service as a judge." (citing Rule 3 of Rule 50). Rule 502 also outlines policies and procedures the Commission must follow when investigating a complaint of judicial misconduct. It is clear from the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules that the Legislature intended the Commission to have sole jurisdiction over investigating and resolving claims regarding judicial misconduct, rather than a circuit judge presiding over a PCR hearing.

Respondent submits the South Carolina Supreme Court's decision in Langford v. State is also dispositive on whether or not violations of ethical rules are valid considerations for the Court in post-conviction relief matters. 310 S.C. 357, 426 S.E.2d 793 (1993). In Langford, the Supreme Court rejected the applicant's argument in support of post-conviction relief that counsel's representation of both he and his codefendant was a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct. Id. at 360. The Court held

"in our view, the Rules of Professional Conduct have no bearing on the constitutionality of a criminal conviction. Their purpose is to regulate and guide the legal profession by defining proper ethical conduct, and 'nothing in the Rules should be deemed to augment any substantive legal duty of lawyers or the extra-disciplinary consequences of violating such a duty.'"

Id. Respondent submits the Court's ruling in Langford should be extended to alleged violations of the Code of Judicial Conduct especially in circumstances like Petitioner's when the conduct in no way affected the constitutionality or validity of the Petitioner's criminal conviction.

Respondent further submits the PCR Court was correct in failing to make any findings regarding trial judge error based on Petitioner's judicial misconduct claim. Respondent contends that the PCR Court was correct in failing to rule that the trial judge should have *sua sponte* recused himself from ruling on matters which could have involved his communication with Mr. Nelson. Respondent also submits that any claims regarding errors by the trial judge should have been raised on direct appeal. A trial judge's failure to recuse himself is a direct appeal issue. See State v. Cheatham, 349 S.C. 101, 561 S.E.2d 618 (2002). Since claims regarding trial judge

errors are direct appeal issues, they are procedurally barred by S.C. Code Ann. §17-27-20(b) (2003) and cannot be raised on post-conviction relief. Post-conviction relief is not a substitute for a direct appeal. Simmons v. State, 264 S.C. 417, 215 S.E.2d 883 (1974). A post-conviction relief application cannot assert any issues that could have been raised at trial or on direct appeal. Ashley v. State, 260 S.C. 436, 196 S.E.2d 501 (1973). Petitioner perfected a direct appeal and could have raised any issues regarding judicial misconduct and the trial judge's failure to recuse himself from ruling on matters which involved his communication with Mr. Nelson. Petitioner's failure to do so has waived this allegation as a ground for relief.

Respondent submits it is clear that even if Petitioner's claim of judicial misconduct by the trial judge was preserved for review, the claim lacks merit as post-conviction relief is not the proper forum to evaluate the trial judge's conduct, the Commission has sole jurisdiction over investigating judicial misconduct claims, and the issue could have been raised on direct appeal.

II. Petitioner was unable to show that his "newly discovered evidence" would change the result if a new trial was had, had been discovered since trial, was material to the issue of guilt or innocence, and was not cumulative. Thus, Petitioner was unable to satisfy all requisite factors in proving newly discovered evidence.

As Petitioner's claim that the trial court committed judicial misconduct is outlined extensively in the above section, Respondent will now argue that the PCR Court was correct in denying Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief based on his claim of newly discovered evidence.

Petitioner argued that he should be granted relief based on newly discovered evidence, the evidence being the existence of text message communication between Mr. Nelson and the trial judge where the trial judge told Mr. Nelson to leave the courtroom. It is well settled that a

motion for new trial based on newly discovered evidence may be granted only if the movant shows that the evidence upon which the motion is based:

1. Is such as would probably change the result if a new trial was had;
2. Has been discovered since trial;
3. Could not by the exercise of due diligence have been discovered before trial;
4. Is material to the issue of guilt or innocence; and,
5. Is not merely cumulative or impeaching.

State v. Caskey, 272 S.C. 325, 329, 256 S.E.2d 737, 738-39 (1979).

Our courts have held that the movant must prove all five prongs of this test to prevail. The PCR Court concluded that Petitioner was unable to prove all five factors. App. 1713. Most importantly, the PCR Court found that Petitioner failed to prove that the communication between the trial judge and Mr. Nelson was material to his guilt or innocence. The PCR Court found, and the PCR record reflects, that Petitioner conceded that he was unable to prove the materiality element. App. 1713. See also App. 1657, ll. 2-5 ("Now, the information that we were looking for would certainly not pass the fourth prong as far as being material to guilt or innocence.") The PCR Court found that the trial judge's single communication with Mr. Nelson asking him to leave the courtroom "was in no way relevant to the jury's finding of [Petitioner's] guilt." App. 1713. In support, the PCR Court noted that Mr. Nelson was not prosecuting Petitioner's case and the trial judge's conduct did not rise to the level that would have prejudiced the outcome of the trial. App. 1713.

The PCR Court further found that Petitioner could not meet his burden of proving three of the other Caskey factors. The PCR Court correctly found that this evidence would change the result if a new trial was had. In support, the PCR Court found that Petitioner failed to present any evidence that the jury's verdict was influenced by the one text message between Mr. Nelson and

the trial judge. App. 1714. The PCR Court noted, and the record reflects, that no discussion of any communication took place before the jury.

The PCR Court further found that Petitioner failed to prove that the evidence has been discovered since trial. The PCR Court found that Mr. Savage acknowledged that he was aware of a communication between Mr. Nelson and the trial judge during the trial. App. 1715. The trial judge disclosed to the parties on the record during the trial that he generally told [Mr. Nelson] to leave the courtroom." App. 1715, citing App. 896, ll. 5-6. Thus, this communication was discovered during Petitioner's trial. The PCR Court also correctly dismissed Petitioner's argument that Petitioner discovered that the communication between the trial judge and Mr. Nelson took place via text message. In support, the PCR Court found that the form of the communication is a distinction without a difference because a text message communication is no more secretive than any other private two-party conversation. App. 1715. Additionally, the PCR Court found that it did not have to speculate as to the substance of the text message because Mr. Nelson's testimony at the PCR hearing matched the trial judge's disclosure during trial. App. 1716.

Lastly, the PCR Court found that Petitioner failed to show that the evidence was not merely cumulative or impeaching. The PCR Court found, and the record reflects, that the trial judge disclosed this communication and its substance during trial on the record. App. 1716, App. 896, ll. 5-6. Respondent submits that simply learning of the form of the communication would not change the fact that it is cumulative to the trial judge's disclosure.

The PCR Court was also correct by not adopting Petitioner's argument that the five factor analysis should not apply in his case. Petitioner argued at the PCR hearing that the PCR Court should adopt the standard from McCoy v. State, 401 S.C. 363, 737 S.E.2d 623 (2013) which

holds that "juror misconduct discovered post-trial is not properly considered 'newly discovered evidence'; rather, it is a separate basis for a new trial." McCoy 401 S.C. at 371, 737 S.E.2d at 627. McCoy deals with only allegations of juror misconduct.

Based on the foregoing, there is certainly evidence of probative value to support the PCR Court's ruling that Petitioner did not meet his burden of proving that he is entitled to a new trial based on newly discovered evidence.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issue discussed above fully.